FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

JUN 1 1995

CLERK Bγ Puty Clerk

CYNTHIA L. STELTENKAMP F/K/A CYNTHIA L. RUSSENBERGER,

Petitioner/Former Wife,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 85,7431st dca case No. 94-00084

and

RAY DEAN RUSSENBERGER,

Respondent/Former Husband.

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

> E. JANE BREHANY, ESQUIRE MYRICK, DAVIS & BREHANY, P.A. 625 North Ninth Avenue Pensacola, FL 32501 (904) 433-0084 FLORIDA BAR NO. 715042

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER/ FORMER WIFE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 22, 1994, Circuit Judge Nancy Gilliam entered an order granting Ray Russenberger's request to impose a restriction on relocation by his former wife, Cindy Steltenkamp. Mrs. Steltenkamp, the primary residential parent of the parties' five minor children and the children's historical primary caretaker, hoped to relocate with the children to Suffern, New York. Mrs. Steltenkamp presented the following reasons as motivation for her requested relocation: (i) she has remarried, (ii) her husband lives in Suffern, New York, (iii) her husband's employment as a research scientist is located in New York, and (iv) she had purchased housing in New York.

After the trial court entered the order prohibiting relocation, Mrs. Steltenkamp filed a timely notice of appeal with the district court of appeal, first district. The appellate court applied a competent substantial evidence standard of review and affirmed the trial court's decision. <u>Russenberger v. Russenberger</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly 985 (Fla. 1st DCA April 21, 1995). The first district indicated that it may have reached a different result as a trier of fact, but under an abuse of discretion standard, the court held that sufficient evidence existed to support the trial court's prohibition against relocation. A copy of the decision is attached hereto as Appendix Exhibit 1.

In <u>Russenberger</u>, the first district struggled to resolve the "internal contradictions" of <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993). After resolving these "internal contradictions" to its

satisfaction, the first district acknowledged conflict with the fourth district case, <u>Tremblay v. Tremblay</u>, 638 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). In order to resolve this conflict between the districts and for several additional reasons subsequently set forth in this brief, Mrs. Steltenkamp filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this court.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the supreme court or another district court on the same question of law.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Without additional guidance from this court, the first district will continue to wrongfully deny relocation requests of primary residential parents. Unfortunately, the only decision from this court on this issue, <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993), has been interpreted in varying ways by the district courts of appeal and has not provided the consistency in rulings as anticipated by this court. For example, in the case at hand, Mrs. Steltenkamp wants to relocate with the parties' children because of her remarriage and her husband's employment in Suffern, New York. Despite this well-intentioned reason and despite the fact that the trial court specifically found that she did not have a vindictive desire to interfere with visitation, Mrs. Steltenkamp's request was denied after the trial court reviewed the <u>Hill</u> six-factor test. As explained more fully herein, an analysis utilizing the <u>Hill</u> factors

will often result in a decision against removal. Accordingly, the <u>Hill</u> analysis conflicts with this court's general rule in favor of removal. In <u>Russenberger</u>, the first district gives lip-service to the <u>Mize</u> general rule, but then decides the case on the <u>Hill</u> factors. Other districts, however, have given lip-service to the <u>Hill</u> factors, and have decided the case on the <u>Mize</u> general rule.

Finally, it is imperative that Mrs. Steltenkamp be given the same opportunity to relocate with the children and with her new husband as other parents throughout the State of Florida. Mrs. Steltenkamp should not be penalized simply because she lives in the first district. Mrs. Steltenkamp respectfully requests that this court accept discretionary jurisdiction of the <u>Russenberger</u> decision in order to i) resolve the internal contradictions of <u>Mize</u>, ii) clarify the rule of law of <u>Mize</u>, and iii) resolve the conflicts between the districts in relocation cases. Additional case law is necessary to provide consistent guidance to all parents in the state of Florida.

ARGUMENT

I. ISSUE OF STATEWIDE IMPORTANCE.

A. Importance of Supreme Court Guidance in Family Law Matters.

Family law cases compile a very high percentage of all cases heard at the trial court level. For this reason, it is imperative that the supreme court provide guidance and direction in family law matters. In July of 1993, this court recognized the importance of providing guidance to the family law courts when a request is made by a primary residential parent to relocate with the parties'

children. The <u>Mize</u> decision, however, has created confusion for family lawyers and judges. Several courts and lawyers have found it extremely difficult to reconcile the <u>Mize</u> "general rule" with the six-factor relocation test also adopted by this court in <u>Mize</u>.

To explain, <u>Mize</u> provides that as a general rule, as long as the primary residential parent desires to move for a wellintentioned reason and founded belief that "relocation is best for the parent's - and it follows, the child's - well-being," and not from a vindictive desire, the change in residence should ordinarily be approved. As explained by the first district in <u>Russenberger</u>, adoption of this general rule from Judge Schwartz' concurring opinion in <u>Hill v. Hill</u>, 548 So. 2d 705, 707 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), <u>rev. denied</u>, 560 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 1990), is an endorsement of the view that a relocation request "should presumptively be approved." <u>Russenberger</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 987. As a matter of fact, Justice Shaw acknowledged in his <u>Mize</u> concurrence that the majority opinion creates a "virtual per se rule favoring removal." <u>Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d at 422.

The conflict arises when this court directs the trial courts to next apply the <u>Hill</u> six-factor analysis: "when viewed as a whole, however, the combination of the six-factor test and the language from the <u>Hill</u> concurring opinion seems internally contradictory." <u>Russenberger</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 987-988. ¹

¹For further explanation of the internal contradictions see <u>Jones v. Jones</u>, 633 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>rev</u>. <u>denied</u> 639 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 1994), and <u>Tremblay v. Tremblay</u>, 638 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

Briefly, the general rule presents a presumption in <u>favor</u> of removal and the <u>Hill</u> factors require an entirely different test which frequently will result in a conclusion supporting nonremoval. As a matter of fact, in some states an analysis similar to the <u>Hill</u> test has been characterized as a presumption <u>against</u> removal. <u>In Re Marriage of Eckert</u>, 119 Ill. 2d 316, 518 N.E. 2d 1041 (Ill. 1988). This internal contradiction must be resolved in order to provide consistent guidance to the trial courts. If this court accepts jurisdiction in this matter, the <u>Mize</u> decision can be "fine-tuned" in order to provide well-reasoned guidance to trial courts and litigants throughout the state.

B. Fine-tuning of Relocation Problems in Other States and Relevance to Florida Litigation.

The six-factor approach to relocation dilemmas derives from the 1976 New Jersey Supreme Court decision, <u>D'Onofrio v. D'Onofrio</u>, 144 N.J. Super. 200, 365 A.2d 30 (1976). Since 1976, New Jersey relocation law has evolved and has been modified considerably. Briefly, New Jersey has fundamentally changed its analysis of the relocation issue by now stating that under current law the emphasis "should not be on whether the children or custodial parent will benefit from the move, but on whether the children will suffer from it." <u>Holder v. Polanski</u>, 111 N.J. 344, 544 A.2d 852 (1988). As one can see, the <u>D'Onofrio</u> test that was adopted verbatim in <u>Mize</u>, has been substantially modified by the New Jersey Supreme Court. Since <u>Holder</u>, custodial parents have been allowed to routinely

relocate for reasons such as better employment opportunities and remarriage.²

In summary, the New Jersey analysis has evolved from a conservative, multi-element analysis to a relaxed, flexible standard for justifying relocation. The Florida analysis, as established in <u>Mize</u>, however, focuses on the 1976 New Jersey multi-factor test that has now been rejected by New Jersey. The evolution of the New Jersey relocation analysis strongly suggests that this state should consider further growth and modification of the relocation standard.

II. Express and Direct Conflict.

The decision of the first district court of appeal in <u>Russenberger</u> expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decision in <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993) and with the following district court of appeal decisions: <u>Tremblay v. Tremblay</u>, 638 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); <u>Ciftci v. Munoz</u>, 627 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); <u>Baez v. Baez</u>, 627 So. 2d 1260 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993); <u>Zak v. Zak</u>, 629 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 2nd 1993); <u>Stockburger v.</u> <u>Stockburger</u>, 633 So. 2d 1140 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); <u>Blakney v. Marks</u>, 642 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); and <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 623 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

A. Conflict with <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993).

² See <u>McMahon v. McMahon</u>, 256 N.J. Super. 524, 607 A.2d 696 (1991); <u>Harris v. Harris</u>, 235 N.J. Super. 434, 563 A.2d 64 (1989); <u>Murnane v. Murnane</u>, 229 N.J. Super. 520, 552 A.2d 194 (1989); and <u>Winer v. Winer</u>, 241 N.J. Super. 510, 575 A.2d 518 (1990).

This court provides that as a general rule, relocation should be allowed if the primary residential parent desires to move for a well-intentioned reason and the move is not motivated by a vindictive desire to interfere with visitation rights.

٠.

In Mize, the mother desired to relocate to California in order that she could receive emotional and financial support from her father and seek higher paying employment. In Russenberger, the mother wishes to relocate to New York because (i) she has remarried, (ii) her husband lives in Suffern, New York, (iii) her husband is employed as a research scientist in New York and (iv) she has purchased housing in New York. In both cases, the trial court found that the move was not motivated by a vindictive desire interfere with visitation rights. to Despite these same controlling facts, different results were reached: Ms. Mize was allowed to relocate while Mrs. Steltenkamp was not. For this reason, the <u>Russenberger</u> decision expressly and directly conflicts with Mize. As explained in City of Jacksonville v. Florida First National Bank of Jacksonville, 339 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1976), conflict exists where a rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case. Moreover, even though the general rule favoring relocation is mentioned in <u>Russenberger</u>, it is entirely overlooked in the ultimate decision.

B. Conflict with Tremblay.

<u>Russenberger</u> expressly and directly conflicts with the fourth district decision, <u>Tremblay v. Tremblay</u>, 638 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1994). As stated by the first district in <u>Russenberger</u>, "we recognize that our reading of <u>Mize</u> may conflict with the reading given <u>Mize</u> by our colleagues of the fourth district." See <u>Russenberger</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 990.

<u>Tremblay</u> holds as follows: "[w]here the relocating parent is acting in good faith, permission to relocate should generally be granted; i.e. granting relocation becomes the proverbial rule, rather than the exception." <u>Id</u>. at 988. By stating that a conflict exists, the first district is acknowledging that it has chosen <u>not</u> to follow the <u>Mize</u> general rule favoring removal. As a matter of fact, the first district gives lip-service to the general rule, but then ignores it completely in the final decision by affirming the trial court's denial of the relocation request.³

C. Conflict exists where a rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case. <u>City of Jacksonville v. Florida</u> <u>First National Bank of Jacksonville</u>, 339 So. 2d 632, (Fla. 1976).

Mrs. Steltenkamp was not allowed to relocate to be with her husband. Ms. Mize, Ms. Tremblay, Ms. Ciftci, Ms. Baez, Ms. Zak, Ms. Stockburger, and Ms. Blakney were allowed to relocate. Despite substantially the same controlling facts, Mrs. Steltenkamp is not allowed to relocate. The chart on page 9 of this jurisdictional brief presents a thorough comparison of several similar cases from other districts.

³See also <u>Holman v. Holman</u>, 638 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); (mother requested permission to relocate to her hometown in Alabama to care for ailing mother, family support, and improved employment opportunities; no vindictive motive; trial court denied removal and first district affirmed).

Primary	MIZE	TREMBLAY	CIFTCI	ZAK	STOCKBURGER	BLAKNEY	RUSSENBERGER	
Residential Parent	Mother	Mother	Mother	Mother	Mother	Mother	Mother	
Shared Parental Responsib- ility	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Motive to defeat visitation	No	No	Implied No	Implied No	No	Implied No	No	
Primary Residential Parent's Reason for move	Better job	Study nursing, improve her earn- ing abil- ity	Better pay- ing job for Mother	Better job opportu- nity	Impending Marriage, better employment opportunity	Remarried; husband had higher pay- ing job; purchased new home	Remarried; husband transferred; purchased new home	
Move from Florida to ?	CA	МА	Another county in FL	IL	NC	MN	NY	
Reason considered "well- intentioned"	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Mize general rule follow- ed (change of residence should ordinarily be approved)	ellow-Yes Yes nge dence		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NO	
Parent allowed to move	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	<u>NO</u>	

As the chart illustrates, substantially the same controlling facts are producing drastically different results. A review of the <u>Russenberger</u> decision by this court can correct this inequity.

CONCLUSION

The <u>Russenberger</u> decision expressly and directly conflicts with the <u>Mize</u> decision of this court and several decisions from other district courts of appeal. Mrs. Steltenkamp urges this court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to maintain uniformity for all families residing in Florida.