Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CYNTHIA L. STELTENKAMP F/K/A CYNTHIA L. RUSSENBERGER,

Petitioner/Former Wife,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 85,743 1ST DCA CASE NO. 94-00084

and

RAY DEAN RUSSENBERGER,

Respondent/Former Husband.

RESPONDENT'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

Crystal Collins/Spencer
Florida Bar No. 558265
EMMANUEL, SHEPPARD & CONDON
30 South Spring Street
Post Office Drawer 1271
Pensacola, Florida 32596
(Telephone: 904/433-6581)
Attorneys for Respondent/
Former Husband

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent/Former Husband, Ray D. Russenberger, (hereinafter referred to as Respondent) accepts in part the Petitioner/Former Wife, Cynthia Russenberger Steltenkamp's (hereinafter referred to as Petitioner) Statement of the Case and Facts. The Respondent, however, would add as follows:

The parties were divorced one month when Petitioner announced she was moving 1290 miles with the parties' five minor children. During the negotiations of the Marital Settlement Agreement, the Petitioner kept secret her intentions to relocate. At the time of the filing of the Petition to Enforce Final Judgement of Dissolution which requested the trial court to prohibit the removal of the parties' five children, the Petitioner was not married to her current husband, Mike Steltenkamp. While the litigation was pending and after the issuance of a temporary injunction prohibiting the relocation of the minor children, Mr. Steltenkamp and Petitioner purchased a home in the Suffern, New York area and later married.

Between the entry of the Final Judgment of Dissolution in January, 1993, and the final hearing on the relocation issues in December, 1993, 11 hearings and two status conferences were held and 33 pleadings were filed. Following a three day evidentiary hearing in December, 1993, the trial court prohibited relocation of the parties' five children. The first district court of appeal, in a well-reasoned decision, affirmed

the trial court's holding. The first district determined that the trial court correctly applied the law under Mize v. Mize, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993), and found that there was a "logical and reasonable resolution of the Hill factors, supported by competent and substantial evidence." Russenberger v.

Russenberger, 20 Fla. L. Weekly 985, 989 (Fla. 1st DCA April 21, 1995) citing Hill v. Hill, 548 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), rev. denied, 560 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 1990). A copy of the first district's corrected decision is attached hereto as Appendix Exhibit 1.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the first district did not acknowledge a direct and express conflict with the fourth district's decision in Tremblay v. Tremblay, 638 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Rather, the first district, in a footnote, recognized that its reading of Mize may conflict with the reading given by the fourth district in Tremblay.

Russenberger, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 990. Upon review, however, the first district's interpretation and application of Mize in Russenberger does not conflict with the fourth district's interpretation and application and application of Mize in Tremblay.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner has not demonstrated any grounds for invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3, Fla. Const. Specifically, the first district in Russenberger v. Russenberger, 20 Fla. L. Weekly 985 (Fla. 1st DCA April 21, 1995), did not certify the opinion nor any issue in the opinion

to be of great public importance. Further, no express and direct conflict exists between the <u>Russenberger</u> decision and this Court's holding in <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1993). In <u>Russenberger</u>, the first district found that the trial court had applied the correct law under <u>Mize</u>. Review of the record establishes that there is competent and substantial evidence to support the findings of the trial court.

Moreover, the first district's interpretation and application of <u>Mize</u> in <u>Russenberger</u> do not conflict with any other district's interpretation and application of <u>Mize</u> when viewed on a case-by-case basis. The rule of the law announced by the fourth district in <u>Tremblay v. Tremblay</u>, 638 So. 2d 1140, (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) is the same rule of law announced by the first district in <u>Russenberger</u>.

Should this Court find that the Petitioner's arguments fit within the limited confines of Article V, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution, this Court's discretionary jurisdiction is permissive, not mandatory. The level of litigation in this matter has been staggering. The parties and the children need closure on the relocation issue. If this Court declines to exercise its jurisdiction, the healing process may begin.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. ISSUE OF STATEWIDE IMPORTANCE

A. The first district court of appeal did not certify the opinion nor any issue in <u>Russenberger</u> to be of great public importance.

The jurisdiction of the Supreme Court extends only to a

limited class of cases enumerated in Article V, Section 3 (b) of the Florida Constitution. Mystan Marine, Inc. v. Harrington, 339 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 1976). Pursuant to Article V, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court that passes upon questions certified to be of great public importance. The Petitioner attempts to move this Court to recognize Russenberger as involving an issue of statewide This is a thinly veiled attempt to ask this Court importance. to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction based upon motion by the Petitioner. However, certification must be upon motion of the district court, and not upon motion of the parties. Lipsius v. Bristol-Myers Co. 269 So. 2d 680 (Fla. 1972). first district has not certified the Russenberger opinion or any issue raised in it to be of great public importance. Therefore, this court should deny Petitioner's request to invoke the discretionary review of this Court.

# B. Fine-tuning of relocation problems in other states and relevance to Florida litigation.

This Court carefully considered cases from New Jersey and other jurisdictions in the <u>Mize</u> opinion. <u>See Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d at 419 (footnote 4). <sup>1</sup>

In adopting the approach articulated in <u>Hill</u>, including language in Judge Schwartz's concurring opinion, this Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All cases cited by the Petitioner from other jurisdictions predate this Court's <u>Mize</u> decision.

pronounced a general rule favoring relocation in cases where the final judgment does not prohibit relocation. However, this Court recognized a need for a case-by-case determination and directed the trial courts to weigh all of the Hill factors, with the best interest of the child being the prime consideration. Mize, 621 So. 2d at 420. This holding is neither outdated nor in conflict with New Jersey. However, a conflict with another state court's decision does not invoke this Court's jurisdiction. See Art. V, § 3(b), Fla. Const.

### II. EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT.

# A. No express and direct conflict exists between Russenberger and Mize v. Mize, 621 So. 2d. 417 (Fla. 1993).

In <u>Russenberger</u>, the first district's focus in reviewing the trial court's denial of Petitioner's request to relocate was this Court's decision in <u>Mize</u>. <u>Russenberger</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 987. The first district interpreted <u>Mize</u> to require that

where a relocating parent is acting in good faith, a trial court must permit relocation if the best interests of the children, as determined based upon an analysis of the applicable facts using the <a href="#Hill">Hill</a> factors, will be served at least as well in the proposed location as in the present location. Further,... the presumption in favor of relocation expressed in <a href="Mize">Mize</a> places a burden of proof on the parent opposing relocation.

### Russenberger, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 988.

The first district recognized that the trial court should weigh the <u>Hill</u> factors on a case-by-case basis, based on the particular facts of each case, with the primary concern being the best interests of the children. <u>Russenberger</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 988, <u>citing Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d at 420. This holding is

not in conflict with <u>Mize</u>. The first district correctly interpreted and applied the general rule of <u>Mize</u>, that a presumption exists in favor of relocation. This presumption is rebuttable, if a non-custodial parent can demonstrate that the <u>Hill</u> factors, as applied to the facts, do not support the proposed relocation. The best interests of the children must be the court's prime consideration.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, <u>Russenberger</u> and <u>Mize</u> do not expressly and directly conflict because they do not involve substantially the same controlling facts.

In <u>Mize</u> the trial court adopted the findings of the special master. <u>Mize v. Mize</u>, 623 So. 2d. 636 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). The special master found that the move would improve the Former Wife's economic circumstances and the child's domestic and educational environments. Further, the Former Wife and child would both benefit from increased contact and support of the maternal grandfather, and the Former Wife was amenable to extensive alternate visitation and would pay costs. <u>Mize</u>, 621 So. 2d at 419.

In contrast, the <u>Russenberger</u> trial court expressly found that the relocation would not improve the quality of life of the children. The trial court found that the children were happy and well adjusted, were in good schools and a good neighborhood, were involved in many activities and had a good support group. <u>Russenberger</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 988. The trial court found that the Petitioner had failed to communicate

with the Respondent concerning issues involving the children and failed to encourage contact between the children and their father. After reviewing the long-standing history of difficulties between the parties and the long-standing history of Petitioner not encouraging visitation, the trial court concluded that it was highly questionable whether Petitioner would comply with substitute visitation arrangements. The trial court found that "history dictates in this case that visitation would peter out." Id.

Further, the trial court concluded that there was no adequate substitution visitation schedule. The trial court considered several factors including the relationship between the Respondent and his children, his involvement in their activities, the difficulty of travel between Suffern, New York and Pensacola, and the length of time the Respondent would have with each child under the proposed substitute visitation.

In considering the Petitioner's motive for the move, the trial court expressed concern about the Petitioner's failure to inform Respondent of her intentions to relocate during the negotiations of the Marital Settlement Agreement. The trial court found this factor to be "somewhat neutral." Russenberger, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 988. Following its thorough analysis of the Hill factors, the trial court in Russenberger found the relocation would not be in the children's best interests.

Russenberger, 20 Fla L. Weekly at 989.

Upon comparison of the controlling facts in Russenberger

and Mize, it is clear that this court is not presented with a conflicting result in a situation involving substantially the same facts. Thus, this court should not disturb the first district's decision in <u>Russenberger</u> because there is no real, live and vital conflict. <u>Nielsen v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960).

## B. No conflict exists between <u>Russenberger</u> and <u>Tremblay</u> v. <u>Tremblay</u>, 638 So. 2d 1140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

This Court recognized in <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980) that it "may only review a decision of a district court of appeal that <u>expressly</u> and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal...on the same questions of law." <u>Id.</u> at 1359 (emphasis in original). This Court has interpreted "expressly" to mean "in an express manner" and defined express as "to represent in words". <u>Id.</u> at 1359.

The fourth district's holding in <u>Tremblay</u> is in accord with the first district's holding in <u>Russenberger</u>. Both <u>Tremblay</u> and <u>Russenberger expressly</u> hold that when a relocating parent is acting in good faith, a presumption favoring relocation exists and the trial court must weigh the evidence pursuant to the <u>Hill</u> factors in making the final determination on the issue. The fourth district in <u>Tremblay</u> observed that a presumption favoring relocation will allow more custodial parents to relocate. However, before a final determination is made, the trial court must consider and weigh the <u>Hill</u> factors. <u>Tremblay</u>, 638 So. 2d at 1058. This is the same rule of law as

applied in Russenberger. Therefore, no conflict exists.

Relocation determined on a case-by-case basis will ultimately result in some requests being denied. In Russenberger, the trial court began with the presumption favoring relocation then expressly examined each Hill factor giving prime consideration to the best interest of the children as directed by Mize. See Mize, 621 So. 2d at 420. The trial court found that only one factor, the financial affordability of transportation, supported relocation. Russenberger, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at 988, 989.

C. Conflict exists where a rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case.

The following is a list of the distinguishing facts between <u>Russenberger</u> and the cases cited by Petitioner:

- Tremblay v. Tremblay, 638 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). No findings of fact. Case was remanded to the trial court to be considered in light of Mize.
- 2. <u>Ciftci v. Munoz</u>, 627 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).
  Move was only 200 miles away and was not designed to frustrate contact with the noncustodial parent and children.
- 3. <u>Baez v. Baez</u>, 627 So. 2d 1260 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993).

  No underlying facts reported in the third district court's decision with the exception that the final judgment contained a provision permitting relocation under certain circumstances.

  Custodial parent proved her case pursuant to <u>Mize</u>.
  - 4. Zak v. Zak, 629 So. 2d 1987 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

Custodial parent moved for substantially better employment and income. Move allowed children to be near noncustodial parent's family and allowed custodial parent to be nearer her family. Second district court found that all but possibly one of the Hill factors supported relocation.

- 5. Stockburger v. Stockburger, 633 So. 2d 1140 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Better employment for the custodial parent and improved quality of life for the children. Trial court specifically found custodial parent would make a good faith effort to comply with substitute visitation arrangements. Move was 600 miles away. All Hill factors supported the move.
- 6. <u>Blakney v. Marks</u>, 642 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Remanded to the trial court to be determined in light of <u>Mize</u>. This is a first district case. A conflict within a district court does not invoke the Supreme Court's discretionary jurisdiction. <u>See</u> Art. V, § 3 (b)(3), Fla. Const.

#### CONCLUSION

The Petitioner has failed to demonstrate sufficient grounds to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

Accordingly, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the first district court's decision of <u>Russenberger</u>.